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Ambassador ’s Message

Foreword
It is with a sense of gratitude and cautious optimism that my colleagues and I in the Royal Bhutanese
Embassy, New Delhi bring out the annual issue of Window on Bhutan.
Following a very difficult year in 2020 with the outbreak of Covid-19, the impact of the pandemic across the
world has been felt even more acutely this year. As of 6th December 2021, the world has seen 263
million people infected by the virus and five million precious lives have been lost. Economic growth
continued to be severely affected with the travel industry taking the biggest hit. Just as progress was
being made in bringing the pandemic under control through implementation of preventive
measures including administration of vaccines brought out in record time, the emergence of a
Delta variant of the virus resulted in a deadly second wave. The sudden increase in infected cases
severely challenged the capacity of the health sector to provide timely treatment to the rising number of
patients and many lives were lost. The diplomatic community in Delhi was also affected and we lost a
number of our colleagues.
Against this backdrop, my colleagues and I in the Royal Bhutanese Embassy feel a deep sense of
gratitude for the way His Majesty the King and the Royal Government of Bhutan have been protecting the
Bhutanese people from the pandemic and the support Bhutan has been receiving from many
friendly countries.
Under the wise and caring guidance of His Majesty the King, the Covid Task Force led by the Prime
Minister himself has been successful in implementing the safety measures against the pandemic. As a
result, the number of Covid cases in Bhutan has been limited to 2641 as of 6th December 2021, the
vast majority of them detected in quarantine facilities among people returning to the country, and only
three patients who had multiple comorbidities lost their lives. Several instances of local transmission
were effectively contained with timely lockdowns. His Majesty’s frequent visits to the more vulnerable
Districts and his words of encouragement motivated our people to follow the Covid protocols more
diligently and observe the lockdowns in the right spirit. The Task Force successfully coordinated the
vaccination of 76.8 percent of Bhutan’s overall population as of 6th December 2021. This includes
93.2 percent of the adult population and 92.8 percent of children between 12 and 17 years of age.
We are deeply grateful to the Government of India for gifting Bhutan with Covishield vaccines to meet our
entire requirement for vaccinating our adult population with the first jab. India and the European Union also
mobilized support from friendly countries to help meet our requirement of vaccines for the second jab. We
are deeply grateful to the US government for donating 500,000 Moderna vaccines and to Denmark for
donating 250,000 AstraZeneca vaccines, to Bulgaria for donating 172,500 AstraZeneca vaccines and
to Croatia for donating 10,000 AstraZeneca vaccines. We are also grateful to China for donating
50,000 Sinopharm vaccines. We acknowledge with gratitude the generous assistance in medical
equipment and supplies as well as financial support Bhutan received from India, Japan, the US,
European Union, China and other friendly countries.
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Even as our land borders remain closed since the outbreak of the pandemic, we could not have asked for a
better friend and more understanding neighbour than India. The Government of India ensured that
essential goods and supplies continued to follow smoothly even during lockdowns and our trade routes
were also kept open once the lockdowns were lifted. Weekly bubble flights between Delhi and Paro, and
Kolkata and Paro are presently meeting the needs of our travellers until regular flights can be resumed.
Wearing masks, maintaining social distance and holding virtual meetings have become a part of life to
varying degrees across the world. Physical meetings have also resumed to a significant extent. While
quarantine requirement of various durations remains in place for most travellers, more agreements are
being reached between countries for free travel by fully vaccinated persons.
We are very conscious that in Bhutan a two weeks quarantine requirement for fully vaccinated persons still
remains in place for all arrivals without exception. As a result, we have not had any official visits take place
for almost two years and a number of Ambassadors are still waiting to visit Thimphu to present their
credentials.
This is where we now feel a sense of cautious optimism despite the emergence of the new Omicron
variant. The number of new Covid cases has been declining steadily in India even as the vaccination
program has gained momentum. The importance of vaccination is also gaining acceptance across the
world despite strong reluctance among sections of the population in many countries. There is also
encouraging news of a few medicines that have shown a high degree of effectiveness in treating Covid
cases and reducing mortality. Once these medicines receive official approval, the combination of more
effective treatment and increased vaccination should enable us to return to a more normal life or provide
more safety as we learn to live with the virus.
In the meanwhile, let us continue to observe wearing masks and maintaining social distance as we go
about our daily work in all walks of life. My colleagues and I take this opportunity to wish our colleagues in
the diplomatic community and all our Indian friends a very Happy New Year as we look forward to a
brighter prospect for a more normal life in 2022.
Tashi Delek!

V. Namgyel
Ambassador of Bhutan
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His Majesty The King personally granting the Desuung Druk Thuksey Representational
Pin and COVID-19 Service Pin to Desuup Phub Gyem

The Way of the King: Leadership of His Majesty
The King of Bhutan During the Pandemic
- Written by Kinzang Dorjic, Political Counsellor, RBE, New Delhi

Even though the dark shadow of the pandemic lingers and there is no telling what turn it will take
next, there are reasons to be cautiously optimistic. The global caseload has dropped, vaccine
coverage is growing and the mortality rate has plummeted in most parts of the world. It has been
two difficult years but finally there are signs that a new dawn is not far away, that we can mourn
the pain and losses endured, reflect on the lessons learnt and move on.
As is often the case, this tumultuous period in human history will slowly sink under the weight of
time but some stories will live on in our collective consciousness. In Bhutan’s case, it will be a
story of our King hand-holding the country every step of the way through many long days and
longer nights, to emerge on the other side not as a nation exhausted and battered but inspired
and stronger.
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As some observers rightly pointed out, Bhutan’s success in the management of the pandemic was
an unlikely one. No country was prepared for it but the odds against Bhutan were stacked much
higher due to three factors. Firstly, even though Bhutan’s decades of investment in the sector has
made primary healthcare accessible even in the most remote pockets of the country, it was certain
to falter at the first serious contact with the pandemic. The expertise and medical equipment
required for specialized care by Covid-19 patients was almost non-existent. Secondly, Bhutan is
an import-dependent country sourcing even the most essential items from outside the country,
most importantly from India. Any disruption to the supply chain was bound to be serious. Thirdly,
like many other countries, tourism is one of the most important sectors for Bhutan in terms of
revenue generation and employment. The pandemic’s instant decimation of the tourism sector
was bound to have many ripple effects.
Going into the battle with the pandemic in the first quarter of 2020, Bhutan was looking at grim
prospects. As the pressure from the global spread of the virus amplified, there was a growing
sense of inevitability that we would be hit and hit hard by the pandemic, its fallout or both.
Two years in, Bhutan steered clear of the many potential catastrophes to lives and livelihoods.
When the inevitable local outbreaks occurred, they were effectively contained. The economic cost
on the country has been heavy but no one lost shelter over their heads or the food on their tables
during the entire course of the pandemic. Measuring the success of Bhutan’s management of the
pandemic with the yardstick of the protection of lives and livelihoods, it could not have been any
better. This level of success was only possible because of the King.
To outside observers, the leadership of Bhutan’s King would have become visible only during the
pandemic. However, Bhutanese are no strangers to the hallmark leadership qualities of the King
or the exemplary leadership of our successive Monarchs. In fact, the journey of modern Bhutan is
a story of our Monarchs hand-holding the nation through the past century. So, even when the
threat of the pandemic loomed and the fear of uncertainty was palpable, at the back of their
minds, Bhutanese were quietly confident because they had the King to look up to. And such a
faith of the entire nation was born not out of desperation in the face of danger but from what every
Bhutanese has seen and experienced for themselves from the first day of His Majesty’s reign
more than a decade ago.
So when Bhutanese recount stories of the trying times of the last two years, it will be tales woven
with the rich fabric of the King’s hallmark leadership qualities that saw us through, some of the
qualities that those following in the footsteps or observing from afar can aspire to emulate.
A Clear Vision
Soon after the detection of the index Covid-19 case in Bhutan in March 2020, His Majesty The
King gave a televised address to the nation. During the address, His Majesty provided a clear
vision and said that the greatest priority for the country was the health and safety of the people
and that every measure will be put in place to safeguard the people from the pandemic. In other
words, not a single person should lose life to the pandemic or to its fallouts.
Having a clear vision meant everyone down the line knew what to work towards. Even though
Bhutan’s smallness meant working as one was easier compared to larger countries, without a
clear and a shared objective, even a team of three people can nullify each other’s efforts.
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And the vision was not only relevant but something that is deeply valued in Bhutan not only as
individuals but as a core tenet of state policy. In Bhutan, if a choice for the government is between
saving a life and saving something else, no efforts are wasted in deliberating and weighing
options. It is always the former. Our Kings have always taken as a sacred duty to protect every life
and have always lived up to that duty. A case in point: In September 2020, a freak accident in the
country’s capital injured two DeSuung volunteers, one sustaining life-threatening injuries to the
head and multiple internal organs. On the command of His Majesty, the two volunteers were
airlifted the very next morning to Delhi for treatment. While one of them made a quick recovery,
doctors in Delhi gave the other a minuscule chance of making it. Against all odds, and after
months of complicated surgeries and recuperation, she returned to Bhutan, alive. The photo of His
Majesty kneeling down in front of the volunteer, who was in a wheelchair, said everything.
During the course of the pandemic, Covid-19 claimed three lives in Bhutan. All three had multiple
comorbidities and going by the case fatality rate of the virus and other statistical probabilities,
three deaths is an acceptable figure. But one can imagine the pain His Majesty would have felt at
the loss of those three lives.
Compassion and Selflessness
“Throughout my reign I will never rule you as a King. I will protect you as a parent, care for you as
a brother and serve you as a son. I shall give you everything and keep nothing; I shall live such a
life as a good human being that you may find it worthy to serve as an example for your children; I
have no personal goals other than to fulfill your hopes and aspirations. I shall always serve you,
day and night, in the spirit of kindness, justice and equality.”
-- His Majesty The King’s Coronation Speech, 7th November 2008

His Majesty expressed confidence that Desuup Phub Gyem will make a complete recovery

picture stories

His Majesty having packed lunch at a security outpost during one of the inspection visits along the border in Tempaling, between
Phuentsholing and Samtse

His Majesty has always been an embodiment of compassion and selflessness but the
pandemic highlighted the true extent of how much His Majesty has internalized these values.
His Majesty’s leadership during the duration of the pandemic was one act of compassion and
selflessness after another. While too many to list, a few examples stand out.
In the early days of the pandemic, after reports confirmed that elderly population were at higher
risk of dying from the virus, one of the very first interventions of His Majesty was to reach out to
this vulnerable group throughout the country and educate them on how to protect themselves.
They were provided with multivitamins to build up immunity and other essentials including washing
soaps and facemasks.
The first sector to feel the brunt of the pandemic, like elsewhere, was tourism which dried up
instantaneously. Soon after, when border restrictions were imposed, transporters no longer
had work and the construction sector ran out of foreign workers. The knock-on effect rippled
across the economy and thousands of people lost their sources of livelihood overnight.
However, even before the people could feel the pinch of the loss, His Majesty announced a
resilience fund, above and beyond the planned government budget. In matter of days, those
affected began receiving monthly payments into their accounts to provide them financial cushion
them they made transition to other jobs.
In calibrating the amount of monthly income support to provide, His Majesty’s biggest concern was
people losing roofs over their heads especially in towns and urban areas where home ownership
is low. For His Majesty, the worst assault on an individual’s dignity is for a person to
become homeless. His Majesty’s other concern was the children of those affected. Every child
of those affected received a separate monthly allowance.
To ensure that nobody fell through the cracks, government officials and volunteers went around
towns looking for people going through hard times silently. And to make up for the expected slump
in economic activities, every loan account holder received options for loan repayment deferments
without additional interest to the account holder.
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With hundreds of other such granular interventions personally led by His Majesty, a vast majority
of which were not even known to the general public, no Bhutanese within Bhutan or elsewhere
really had to go through situations of distress. In protecting the wellbeing of all Bhutanese, His
Majesty left nothing to chance, bringing everything to the table be it the contingency
fund accumulated through many decades of careful saving or handing over the keys to the
personal home for it to be used as an intensive care unit.
Perhaps, the true extent of His Majesty’s compassion was felt in how His Majesty dealt with
violators and offenders who put not only themselves but the entire country at risk. Rightfully so,
the general public and law enforcement agencies did not take kindly to those who breached safety
measures like those who crossed borders illegally to make a quick buck by smuggling in restricted
goods. The violators were taken to court and sentenced. While everyone wanted to see them
serve their full sentences, His Majesty pardoned the violators after they had served a part of their
sentences, confident that the offenders had paid their dues and learnt their lessons. One would
imagine that as a human being, His Majesty would have shared the frustration of other citizens at
those offenders but as a compassionate King, His Majesty would not allow suffering to befall even
criminals.
Hard Work
At the end, nothing can replace hard work. Throughout the pandemic, His Majesty displayed a
capacity for stupendous amounts of sheer hard work. Leaving a young family back, His Majesty
was on the road for most parts of the two years, travelling thousands of miles and trekking across
mountains and leech-infested jungles, carrying a rucksack, bearing messages of hope
and encouragement to the people and frontline workers. When not in quarantine after returning
from high-risk zones, His Majesty was chairing coordination meetings late into the night,
juggling a thousand things and always ahead of developments taking place on the ground. His
Majesty was Bhutan’s preeminent frontliner.
This is but only a modest account of what makes the leadership of His Majesty The King of
Bhutan one of a kind. When people in faraway lands hear stories of such a King, most would find
it hard to trust their ears for in our times such leaders reminiscent of noble Kings of ancient times
appear almost non-existent. It is not for the lack of need; there is a plenty of need for such leaders
in the world especially when the planet is facing existential crisis. And in His Majesty The King of
Bhutan, there is a point of reference for those aspiring to rise to the occasion.

His Majesty meeting with the people who had arrived to receive the vaccinations at Pekarshing
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Happiness is a place, and Bhutan awaits you!
- Written by Mr. Dorji Dhradhul, Director General
Tourism Council of Bhutan

Salutation
“… when Bhutan opened to foreign tourists in the 1970s, our leadership resisted the temptations
to harness the quick fortunes from mass tourism and instead was prescient to formulate a
visionary policy of High value Low volume tourism. The wisdom of our tourism policy has led to
the emergence of a strong Brand Bhutan – an exclusive destination…” - His Majesty The King
Jigme Khesar Namgyel Wangchuck, 2019.
Tourism is an important and dynamic economic sector contributing significantly towards the socioeconomic development of the country through revenue and foreign exchange earnings, creation of
employment opportunities, conservation of natural and cultural heritage, and the realization of the
national sustainable development goals. Tourism is a strategic and a valuable asset like any other
natural resources for the country and the people. It is, therefore, critically important that we
harness the benefits from tourism in a sustainable manner and ways, most suitable to our society.
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It is equally critical to ensure that tourism contributes to strengthening rather than undermining our
religion, culture, and traditions-- and most importantly, to ensure that it has a larger benefit to all
and not just providing short-term gains benefiting only a selected groups of the society. As an
economic sector with the potential to contribute significantly towards the socio-economic growth of
the country, the industry needs to evolve and strengthen resilience for future development.
Bhutan’s tourism industry continues to grow albeit the halt created by the COVID-19 pandemic, to
become one of the major economic sectors contributing significantly towards socio-economic
development of the country through revenue and foreign currency generation and employment
creation amongst others. The growth in tourism has also promoted growth in other sectors such
as agriculture, handicrafts, entertainment, transport, and related services across the diverse
tourism value chain.
High-value Low volume (HVLV)
As highlighted in the above Royal quote, under the visionary leadership of our extraordinary
Kings, the policy and practice of tourism in our country from the very start, has been guided by the
‘High-value Low volume’ approach.
This tourism approach of HVLV is founded on the principle of holistic sustainability, which is
environmentally, ecologically, socially, and culturally acceptable, and economically viable. At the
same time, pursuing a rewarding exclusive experience for our tourists. The approach is also
rooted in the national development philosophy of Gross National Happiness, which highlights the
need to promote tourism in a manner that meets the needs of present tourists and destinations
while enhancing opportunities for the future.
In simple words, HVLV refers to targeting mindful and responsible tourists who aspire for an
authentic and exclusive experience. As the host country, we make every effort to ensure that our
tourists get good value for their money through quality tourism infrastructure, products, and
services.
Tourism Policy of the Kingdom of Bhutan, 2020 has its vision as - To promote Bhutan
as
a Green, Sustainable, Inclusive, and High-value tourism destination
Green: Develop and promote activities that have a low carbon footprint, are eco and
energy-efficient and contribute to the conservation and preservation of our environment.
Sustainable: Promoting tourism in a manner that will not only meet the current needs
of the tourists, destinations, and citizens, but also ensure protecting and enhancing
their needs and opportunities for the future.
Inclusive: Creating opportunities for meaningful engagement and participation in
tourism, and sharing of benefits for all Bhutanese and travelers, including the
vulnerable sections of our society.
High-value destination: Creating good value for money, revenue and yield, quality
infrastructure, tourism products and services, high-quality experiential tourism, and an
exclusive Brand Bhutan.
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While there is so much to harness and gain from tourism, we are also mindful of the negative
impacts of tourism. This is evident from the way we manage the inflow of tourists. To avoid mass
tourism, which is happening in most other countries, tourist arrivals in Bhutan are regulated in line
with our carrying capacity without deterioration of our culture, environment, infrastructure, and
security of the nation at large.
Therefore, I like to believe that HVLV is the past, present, and future of tourism in Bhutan.
COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on the people and economies around the world
with the tourism sector being the hardest hit. The impact of the pandemic is also felt by Bhutan
and our industry. Our tourism activities have remained suspended since the detection of the first
positive case on 6th March, 2020.
While many countries around the world are grappling with COVID-19, Bhutan’s response to the
pandemic has been exemplary, appreciated by the rest of the world. We are blessed to have His
Majesty The King who has been at the forefront leading the battle against this pandemic with the
whole of a nation approach. A generous monetary allowance on a monthly basis has been
provided to all those affected through the Druk Gyalpo’s Relief Kidu Fund, a Royal gift of His
Majesty The King. Additionally, several fiscal and monetary interventions such as loan and
interest waiver schemes have been made available to all citizens.
Considering these unprecedented impacts, tourism was identified as one of the focus sectors for
interventions. The interventions focused on addressing and mitigating the impacts of the
pandemic and working towards recovery through the implementation of programs on
infrastructure and product development, training and re-skilling, survey and studies and waste
management. These programs were implemented through the Economic Contingency Plans and
implementation of the re-prioritized Tourism Flagship Program of the 12 five-year plan.
Whilst the pandemic has created unprecedented impacts on economies and livelihoods, it has
also presented us with an opportunity to reflect, rethink and restart tourism in a superior way. We
see a silver lining or rather an opportunity in these dark times of the pandemic. Seizing this
opportunity, we have undertaken various interventions to work towards reopening and restarting
tourism in the new normal, in line with our longstanding policy of HVLV.
New Normal
Bhutan’s tourism is unique in the world. The uniqueness and exclusivity are Bhutan Tourism’s
main identity and strength in promoting sustainable tourism development. This is becoming even
more relevant in the present context with the COVID-19 pandemic which has forced nations to
rethink sustainable development approaches in the ways things were done as we prepare for the
new world order or the new normal.
Policy reinforced
Today, as the world continues to grapple with the climate change crisis and over 18 months of the

13 Window on Bhutan | December 2021

14 Window on Bhutan | December 2021

COVID-19 pandemic now, the destinations worldwide are also seriously exploring a new tourism
model that ensures sustainability, health, and happiness of the mankind and the mother earth. I
tend to be convinced that Bhutan’s HVLV tourism of the last half-century can be that new model.
In fact, some destinations have already expressed their appreciation for our HVLV tourism, while
some have even announced their plans to introduce some elements of HVLV, for instance, the
recent introduction of tourist fees by Thailand.
Therefore, it is much easier for Bhutan to adapt to the new normal, as we just have to reinforce
our time-tested tourism policy and practice guided by HVLV.
New Offer
Up until now, Bhutan has mainly promoted itself as a destination with a unique culture and pristine
nature. While this will still remain true today and in the future, Bhutan has now much more to offer.
It is expected that in the last decade, a worldwide growing trend of wellness/well-being travel
could be seen. Especially in the wake of COVID-19, this travel trend is here only to grow, as
people worldwide will reflect on their lives, and prioritize what truly matters to them, and most
likely seek ways to improve their mental and physical well-being.
Centuries ago, Bhutan was popularly known as ‘Menjong – The Land of Medicinal Herbs’ and was
popular among the travelers seeking natural medicinal herbs. Today, Bhutan with its unique policy
of Gross National Happiness and its peaceful surroundings, will only make a greater destination
for those travelers seeking to reflect, relax and reset. In simple words, what Bhutan can offer its
visitors for travel, experience and well-being is evolving by the day. From yoga, meditation to
Buddhist philosophy teachings, from traditional medical treatments to unique spa experiences,
from retreats to pilgrimages-- all to be experienced in a serene and spacious environment in
Bhutan. Bhutan aspires to become a meaningful healing destination in near future.
Year-round destination
At the moment we see a clear peak in certain months, while other months can be considered
really quiet as far as visitors are concerned. A clear opportunity for us, nevertheless, is in
presenting Bhutan as a year-round destination, with each month offering something unique to see
and experience for our visitors.
Possible takeaways for tourists
I believe the takeaway for tourists to Bhutan could be at two levels, viz. personally at an individual
level and from a worldview perspective. The take-away on a personal level is, as expected,
personal. Some can get new inspiration and feel rejuvenated by being in Bhutanese landscape,
nature, being surrounded by majestic mountains, traversing our scenic valleys with winding rivers,
and having encounters and conversations with the locals. All the while breathing in the fresh
mountain air. Others can also find their inspiration in the social fabric of Bhutan, where family ties
and a sense of community are still very strong, and where the people keep the age-old traditions
and values alive in everyday life despite the pressure of the rapidly changing realities of the world.
Others may again experience a sense of spiritual awakening in Bhutan. Not just because of the
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monasteries dotting the landscape at every turn, the smell of incense in the air, and the everpresent monks and nuns chanting their mantras. It is something truly more intangible, which is allencompassing from the moment the plane makes its final descent into the Paro Valley, to the final
goodbyes to their tour guide and driver after a journey unlike any other.
Looking more from a worldview perspective, I would say that Bhutan can be an inspiration to a
world that has seen more pervasive and invasive changes in just the last decades than ever
before in world history, notwithstanding the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. With its continuous
pursuit to combat climate change, its holistic view on the nation’s development, and its people's
well-being, all within the realm of the philosophy of Gross National Happiness and the visionary
leadership of our extraordinary Kings, Bhutan is trying her best to lead by example. In fact, our
sustainable approach to HVLV tourism was a deliberate decision fully knowing the economic
opportunities we would forego.
Bhutan is already the only carbon-negative country in the world but at the cost of a quick
economic opportunity foregone. Perhaps, in an elevated sense, the tourists visiting Bhutan would
also feel gratified for having directly participated in this journey of sustainable tourism and climate
action through their sustainable development fee.
Invitation
We are getting ready to restart tourism with the health and safety of our tourists, tourism service
providers, and the local population as the top priority while offering an exclusive experience to
tourists in line with our tagline - “Happiness is a place.”
Bhutan can be that place for a traveler looking for both physical and mental rejuvenation and
spiritual awakening after almost two years of enforced halt in one’s own space. We have the right
space, pace, nature, people, culture, history to offer that “Happy Experience” that is naturally
attuned with the well-being and wellness of a traveler.
We are getting ready! Are you in for an experience unlike any other? Bhutan awaits you.
Tashi Delek
Dorji Dhradhul with inputs from Thinley Rinzin, Phuntsho Gyeltshen & Damcho Rinzin
Tourism Council of Bhutan

Cooperation and Collaboration
on Environment: MoU signed
between GoI and RGoB on
18th June 2021
- Contributed by the National Environment
Commission Secretariat, Thimphu.
The Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) on
‘Cooperation in the Areas of Environment’ was
signed virtually on 18th June 2021 by Lyonpo (Dr.)
Tandi Dorji, Minister for Foreign Affairs, and
Chairman of the National Environment Commission,
Royal Government of Bhutan, and Shri Prakash
Javadekar,
former
Minister
for
Forest,
Environment and Climate Change, Information &
Broadcasting, and Heavy Industries & Public
Enterprises, Government of India. Maj. Gen. V.
Namgyel, Ambassador of Bhutan
to
India,
and Mrs. Ruchira Kamboj, Ambassador of India
to Bhutan were also present at the virtual signing of
the MoU.

The MoU renewed the earlier cooperation and
collaboration and aimed to further strengthen and
expand the areas of cooperation in the field of
environment to promote a mutually beneficial
partnership between the parties. It covers areas
concerning air, waste, chemical management,
climate change and other areas jointly decided upon,
and will remain in force for 10 years from the date of
signing.
The MoU is expected to enhance the capacity of the
parties in the field of air, waste, chemical
management, climate change and others. Besides
17 Window on Bhutan | December 2021

the training and study visits, the MoU is also
expected to promote exchange of best practices,
know-how, experience and technology of mutual
interest. The provisions under the MoU would
further help parties tackle the emerging
environmental issues in a mutually beneficial
manner.
The Government of India has immensely supported
the Royal Government of Bhutan in devising the
Detailed Project Report on waste management in
the country. The India-Bhutan bilateral meeting
on Waste Management was held in Thimphu
from 27-28 August 2019 with senior officials from
both the parties attending to discuss on the
ways forward for
implementing Bhutan’s
National
Waste
Management Strategy
2019. The bilateral meeting was facilitated
by the UN Environment Programme (UNEP)
as part of its initiative to support the National
Environment Commission (NEC) of the Royal
Government
of
Bhutan
in
environmental
management, including waste management. One of
the key recommendations of the India-Bhutan
bilateral meeting was to develop a Detailed Project
Report (DPR) on the infrastructure and
finance required to implement Bhutan’s National
Waste Management Strategy 2019. The DPR
covers the whole of Bhutan- 20 districts and
four Thromdes (Municipality) and provides a
detailed aspect on the infrastructure and costs, and
the strategic aspect of waste
management,
especially
the
‘social engineering’ aspect of
waste management.
With the signing of the MoU, it has further widened

the scope of collaboration and cooperation in the
waste management sector. In fact, both the parties
will derive several mutual benefits such as but not
limited to addressing the emerging waste
management
issues
and
simultaneously
collaborating on the urgent need to address these
issues in a cost effective and sustainable manner.
Since the Waste Management Flagship Program is
currently underway in Bhutan, through the MoU, it is
expected to explore various environmentally friendly
technologies assisting the waste management
flagship program as an intervention measure to
address various waste management issues in the
country. With the signing of this MoU, both the
parties can expect to share technical assistance and
explore means to build human resource capacity.
Some of the future prospects to work on waste
management include establishing laboratory services
in the country along with exchange of knowledge,
best practices and technology transfer, exchange
visits by experts, scholars and delegations.
The MoU also enables organizing joint seminars,
workshops and meetings involving experts,
scientists, private companies and other relevant
agencies to discuss the common environmental
issues and concerns and also explore the possibility
of undertaking collaborative projects in the near
future.
Bhutan assures its fullest cooperation and support in
establishment of a joint working group as envisaged
in the MoU to further the implementation of the
provisions of the MoU between the GOI and RGoB in
the field of environment.

Virtual signing Ceremony of the MoU

Bhutan For Life
-The First Project Finance for Permanence model in Asia.
- Contributed by the Bhutan For Life Secretariat.

Alpine Lake (above Phajoding)

Bhutan has always championed the environmental
conservation pursuit and has been exemplary in
balancing economic growth with environmental
sustainability. A strong leadership deeply
committed to environmental conservation stemming
from the visionary monarchs and political stability
together with the national ethos that upholds
reverence for the environment are the enabling
conditions for instituting PFP models in Bhutan.
Bhutan For Life is Asia's first Project Finance for
Permanence (PFP) model. The model aims to
permanently protect Bhutan's robust network of
protected areas that contributes to human wellbeing and biodiversity conservation and improve
Bhutan's resilience to the effects of climate change.
Bhutan For Life was established under the
auspices of the Royal Charter granted by His
Majesty the Druk Gyalpo on 27th July 2018. Since

its inception, Bhutan For Life strives to uphold the
exemplary feat in conservation, develop an
innovative solution fortifying our conservation efforts
and ensure environmental protection for all times.
A nine-member Board of Trustees is the
highest governing authority of the BFL fund to
manage, invest and use the transition fund into
which international donors have contributed funding
to be used over the 14-years life of the BFL
program. The Board of Trustees is composed of the
Senior Government officials, Green Climate Fund
(GCF) representative, representative of the
international private individual donors and civil
society organisation (CSO). The Board of Trustees
is supported by fully established BFL Fund
Secretariat and Project Coordination Unit (PCU) to
make informed decision to facilitate implemention of
BFL activities on the ground.
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The
BFL
project
has
made
significant
achievements during the last 2.5 years of its
implementation. The achievements ranged from
biodiversity
conservation
to
developing
infrastructure across the parks and biological
corridors to achieving climate change goals.
The BFL project has been instrumental in upholding
the constitutional mandate and ensuring Bhutan’s
resolve towards remaining carbon neutral through
ensuring no net loss in area under protected area
network. The BFL project successfully achieved the
target of instituting SMART/effective patrolling in all
Protected Areas (PAs) & Biological Corridors (BCs)
to prevent, combat, and monitor poaching, wildlife
trade, and other illegal activities.

Bhutan For Life has initiated feasibility assessments
to source potential innovative financing mechanisms
to ensure sustained flow of funds for sustainably
financing the parks in the future. Through this
innovative financial mechanism, BFL offers a farsighted solution for the permanent protection of the
country’s entire 2.5 million-ha network of protected
areas.
The BFL project has taken concerted and consistent
efforts towards promoting gender equity and women
empowerment. This effort created enabling
conditions to encourage women's participation in
training and awareness campaigns. Similarly, all the
environmental and social safeguards standards are
met before implementing the activities.

With the funding support from BFL in habitat
conservation and species monitoring tool, Tiger
was spotted in areas where it was absent for over a
decade validating our conservation efforts for
maintaining a stable and thriving population of the
iconic megafauna species. Over 1000 ha of key
high value biodiversity and climate resilient habitats
have been brought under improved management.
Communities living within the project landscape
area were trained in environmental conservation
initiatives including waste management.

The uniqueness of BFL project is the equal
emphasis on enhancing community livelihoods in
tandem with promoting biodiversity conservation.
The project has made contributions towards
enhancing
community
livelihoods
through
development of ecotourism infrastructure which
could be used for rendering ecotourism services to
potential ecotourists and help in diversifying their
income sources. Further capacity building of
communities in non-wood forest product enterprise
development through BFL project support has been

Tigers at Phrumsengla National Park (PNP) (captured through
camera traps)

Tiger spotted in Jigme Khesar Strict Nature Reserve (JKSNR)
(captured through camera traps)
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exemplary in generating increased access to
nature-based employment and income generating
opportunities
to
rural
based
vulnerable
communities. The BFL is also engaging diverse
stakeholders in implementing relevant activities
from biodiversity conservation to the adoption of
renewable energy technologies.
BFL have been upholding the exemplary
conservation legacy bestowed on us by our farsighted visionary monarchs. Over 80 activities are
being implemented to achieve mitigation,
adaptation and sustainable financing milestones. A
few notable milestones to be achieved by the end
of the project period are sequestering 35.1 million
tons of carbon equivalent through maintaining the
protected area network and promoting use of
alternative energy solutions; bringing 3000 ha of
land under climate smart restoration through
climate smart plantations; increasing access to
nature based employment to 80% of the
communities living within the project landscape
area through promotion of ecotourism and non-

wood forest based enterprises; increasing tiger
population through improved habitat management.
By year 8 of the project, innovative long term
sustainable financing mechanisms will be identified,
approved and implemented to ensure fund flow for
sustainable management of parks.
We have had successes but we also faced
challenges while implementing the project. One
such challenge was the CoVID-19 pandemic which
the world is grappling with. Bhutan has been
blessed with visionary monarchs and with the
support and guidance from His Majesty The King,
we have been nestled safely against the crisis. As a
small gesture of solidarity in addressing the
pandemic, a total of Nu. 4.5 million was contributed
as a joint contribution by the four environmental
organizations viz: World Wildlife Fund (WWFBhutan), Bhutan For Life (BFL), Royal Society for
Protection of Nature (RSPN) and BTFEC for the
relief measure for the COVID 19 to Royal Kidu
Fund.

BFL Engaging communities and enhancing community livelihood. Sakteng Wildlife Sanctuary located in Merak and Sakteng
Gewogs of Trashigang District, Bhutan.
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Acknowledging Bhutan’s conservation efforts and drawing inspiration from the successful launch
of BFL and lauding BFL as role model for PFP initiative, the PFP model is being upscaled at a
global level through Earth for Life initiative. Earth for Life is gaining momentum globally and
Bhutan for Life is part of a global approach to strategically increase the number and accelerate
the pace of PFP initiatives.

Bhutan For Life Project Social Networks
Learn more about our work:
Website – www.bfl.org.bt
Facebook - https://www.facebook.com/BFL.BHUTAN.FOR.LIFE
Twitter - https://twitter.com/bhutanforlife
Instagram - https://www.instagram.com/bhutan.for.life
Youtube - Bhutan For Life
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RGoB officials and H.E. Mrs. Ruchira Kamboj, Ambassador of India to Bhutan at the signing ceremony of the Implementing
Agreement to develop a small satellite for Bhutan

Joining Hands to Cross the Horizon
- Contributed by the Department of Information Technology
and Telecom, Ministry of Information and Communications.

Bhutan’s journey into space has taken off as a
result of the vision of His Majesty the King to
harness space resources and technologies for
the benefit of our country, and to use space
related activities to create a greater sense of
interest and passion in our youth for science,
technology and innovation.
In line with the Royal Vision, in 2016, Bhutan sent
engineers to the Kyushu Institute of Technology
to study space engineering and to participate in
the BIRDS-2 Project. Bhutan launched its first
satellite, a Cubesat called BHUTAN-1, into orbit
on 10 August 2018 under the project. This was a

major achievement as it was a satellite that was
designed and built entirely by Bhutanese
engineers and was the first milestone in achieving
His Majesty's Vision.
All of these events helped lay the groundwork for
Bhutan to fully embrace and benefit from
Government of India’s generous offer of the South
Asia Satellite and the use of the satellite
transponders free of cost by the countries in the
region. Together with the free transponder the GoI
has also provided the equipment for the Ground
Station. The inauguration of the Satellite Ground
Station and SatCom network in 2019 was yet
m
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another major milestone in taking forward His
Majesty's Vision.
Following this, the Government of India (GoI) and
the Royal Government of Bhutan (RGoB) signed
the first government level Memorandum of
Understanding (MoU) for “Collaboration in
Peaceful Uses of Outer Space”. This is an
umbrella framework MoU which sets the platform
for the two countries to collaborate in the field of
space science and technology. Under the purview
of this MoU, the Department of IT & Telecom
(DITT) under Ministry of Information and
Communications (MoIC) and the Indian Space
Research Organization (ISRO) signed an
Implementing Arrangement (IA) to jointly develop
a small satellite for Bhutan aimed at further
developing the capabilities of the Bhutanese
engineers in building a satellite and operating it
once placed in orbit.
The joint small satellite project commenced with
the participation of four Bhutanese engineers in a
short term training on small satellite development
at U R Rao satellite Centre (URSC) in Bengaluru,
India, one of the ISRO facilities responsible for
the design, developments and realization of their

satellites. The theoretical lessons on satellite
development
provided
an
overview
of
nanosatellite development including its design,
subsystems, assembly, integration and testing
(AIT), launch and operations and visits to the
satellite building and tracking facilities of ISRO.
The facility visits to ISRO’s satellite development
centres, satellite tracking and operation centres,
satellite testing centres and the satellite launch
pads provided an insightful exposure into and
appreciation of the working, complexities,
resources and perseverance involved in satellite
development. Simultaneously, the team worked
on the joint satellite configurations, mission and
implementation plan in consultation with the
URSC team.
The collaboration with ISRO will play an important
role in defining a space program for Bhutan,
creating a pathway to contribute to humanity’s
exploration of outer space and help elevate
Bhutan’s space ambitions to great heights. There
would not have been a better partnership for
Bhutan in this initial phase to build her own space
program and for the Bhutanese engineers to be
able to learn from the experience of ISRO’s
engineers has been a testament to the bonds of
friendship between the two countries.

Bhutanese Engineers meeting with Dr. K. Sivan, Chairperson, Indian Space Research Organization
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Conservation Treatment of Thangkas at the
Wangchuck Heritage Centre, Lhuentse, Bhutan
- Contributed by the Royal Textile Academy, Thimphu

Dungkar Nagtshang, Lhuentse

Dungkar Nagtshang, located in Dungkar under Kurtoe Gewog in Lhuentse Dzongkhag
is the ancient home of Dungkar Choeje (prominent noble family) and the ancestral home of
the Wangchuck Dynasty. The Nagtshang will be converted into the ‘Wangchuck Heritage
Centre' which will showcase the day-to-day life of Desid Jigme Namgyel, father of the First
King of Bhutan. This project is being initiated by the Lhuentse Dzongkhag Administration and
the Royal Textile Academy of Bhutan (RTA) is supporting the project by providing:
i.
ii.

Technical expertise in designing and installing the display in the galleries and
Preventive conservation treatment on all textile artifacts.
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The Royal Textile Academy of Bhutan is a registered Civil Society Organization instituted in May
2005 under the royal patronage of Her Majesty Gyalyum Sangay Choden Wangchuck with the
mission to preserve, promote and educate about Bhutanese textiles. It aims to create
awareness and encourage international collaboration to promote mutually beneficial exhibits and
educational programs.

Royal Textile Academy of Bhutan, Chubachhu, Thimphu

One of the important tasks of setting up the Wangchuck Heritage Centre included the
conservation of Thangkas (Religious Scrolls) whose origins could possibly date back to the era
of Desid Jigme Namgyel. Thangkas are portable sacred objects with a central painted/
appliqued/embroidered image referred to as Melong, surrounded by highly decorative silk
brocade borders/mounts called Thanja. Wooden rods/dowels (Toh) are attached to the top and
bottom to allow for hanging and a silk veil (Zheykheb) to protect the image.
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Illustration of thangka

Thangkas are traditionally stored rolled and then unrolled for display during festivals and rituals
which causes damage to the painting and textile over time. Thangkas are also prone to damage
from environmental conditions and natural ageing due to their organic nature. Improper storage
and handling contribute to the deterioration of the thangkas. The RTA carried out a detailed
conservation treatment on the Thanja, the textile portion of the thangka.
Assessment of Thangkas
In November 2020, a team from the RTA travelled to Dungkar Nagtshang to assess the
Thangkas. The assessment of artifacts is an important task and needs to be completed before
carrying out the conservation treatment. There was a total of 30 thangkas stored in a large steel
trunk. Of the two main components, central painting and the silk borders, it was observed that
major damage was seen along the silk borders although damages were also seen on the central
painting. This was examined as caused due to prolonged display leading to exposure to
moisture and soot, and repeated rolling and unrolling of the paintings for display. Improper rolling
and storage also contributed to the loss of yarns and exposure to pests and rodents.
During the assessment, the team studied in detail the kind of materials used for the Thanjas,
type of yarns used for sewing, and the color codes of the fabrics and yarns that needed to be
procured for the treatment.
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RTA team during the assessment of thangkas at Dungkar Nagtshang

The scrolls were assigned temporary accession numbers so that they can be easily identified
and will not require unrolling just for identification in the future. This was also done so that the
artifacts correspond to the treatment plan since the treatment of each thangka differed. The
scrolls were carefully unrolled, photographed, and assessed by the team. The findings were
entered into a worksheet along with the treatment plan which included the type and color of
fabric required as backing and support for conservation treatment.
Upon the team’s return from Lhuntse, the RTA procured materials required for the treatment.
This was a challenge as materials were not easily available due to the global pandemic, Covid
19. However, we were able to collect fabrics and yarns that were the closest in color and quality
to the original thanja.
Conservation Treatment of Thanjas

Conservation Treatment at Dungkar Nagtshang
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A team of six members led by the Senior Curator, travelled to Dungkar Nagtshang from 10 - 27
May 2021 to carry out preventive conservation treatment on 30 Thangkas as per the assessment
report.
The scrolls were carefully unrolled. The silk veils were removed as most of them were fraying and
disintegrating. They were replaced with raw silk veils upon consultation with the Lam of Dungkar
Nagtshang. This was also due to the fact that repairing the original veil would take a considerable
amount of time as they were very delicate, and the team had only two weeks to work on this
project. However, the original silk veils of the thangkas were individually documented and stored
properly so that they can be treated in the future.
The thangkas were assigned accession numbers and cataloged individually while the treatment
was carried out. The accession numbers were sewn behind the thangka at the bottom right as
shown below:

WHC - Wangchuck Heritage Centre
T - Thangka
015 - Thangka number

The conservation treatment was carried out on the textile portion of the thangka, i.e., the thanja,
toh, and back portion of the thangka, using appropriate conservation sewing techniques as per the
assessment. We were also required to change some of the wooden rods that were broken and
damaged.
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Before and after conservation treatment

Gentle surface cleaning was applied to the central painting and brocade mounts using spatula and
soft brush to remove impurities such as dust, smoke residue, fly droppings and skin of insects.

Surface cleaning
The treatment was recorded through photographs so that the changes can be identified and
documented. The team took photographs of all the artifacts, before treatment and after treatment,
as shown below and prepared a detailed treatment report on each thangka. A worksheet was
developed on Google Document in Google Drive to document the conservation treatment process.
The records of conservation with detailed photos were entered into the document.
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Process of conservation treatment

Once the treatment was completed, the scrolls were carefully rolled and wrapped individually
in washed unbleached cotton cloth and stored in the steel trunk as a preventive conservation
measure. The accession numbers were attached on the wrapped thangka for easy
identification.

Storage of thangkas at Dungkar Nagtshang

Through such projects, the RTA strives to preserve historical textile artifacts. The Conservation
Center at the RTA focuses on conservation treatment of textile artifacts to prevent and
minimize further deterioration and loss. We also house a variety of textile artifacts that are
made accessible to the public through exhibitions with the aim that they learn and appreciate
the textile culture as an exquisite art and identity. It also provides the visitors a visual
experience of the rich textile heritage of Bhutan.
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picture stories

Flags of new members of the United Nations - Bhutan, Bahrain and Qatar raised at Ceremony held at
United Nations Headquarters on 22/09/1971

The Significance of UN-Bhutan Partnership
and Hopes for the Next 50 Years
-Written by Ms. Sherab Lhamo Dorji, Student, Bucknell University

As geographical and temporal restrictions are
increasingly rendered superfluous, courtesy of
globalization
and
increasing
societal
interdependence, it is clear that seemingly
‘individual’ challenges are interconnected, going
beyond the scope of just one actor. These
challenges have severely detrimental effects on the
lives of numerous vulnerable communities all over
the world and can only be mitigated by joint
collaborative efforts. This is evidenced by the
COVID-19 pandemic which has exposed massive
institutional inequalities deeply embedded in our
socioeconomic systems, illustrating the urgent need
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for its recalibration. Hence, as we now encounter a
transformed global landscape, we need a stronger
and more effective multilateral system for a more
equitable, resilient, and sustainable world, bolstered
by the reinforced commitment on cooperative efforts
of intergovernmental bodies such as the United
Nations with state actors and members of civil
society.
The need for reinforced multilateral cooperation is all
the more important for small state actors. Small
states have generally been dismissed by critics as
weak and insignificant entities due to their
a

‘overreliance’ on bigger, more powerful states for
their every need and their greater susceptibility to
vulnerabilities brought about by global challenges.
However, while the fact remains that small states are
generally more vulnerable, they nonetheless have
contributed actively to the United Nations, having a
part in the establishment of imperative institutions
and initiatives. Similarly, small states have accrued
numerous benefits from membership in the United
Nations, having historically used it as a forum in
which they can express their views and concerns on
a wide range of issues affecting the international
community,
ensuring
their
representation.
Economically, the United Nations and its specialized
agencies have played a vital role in the process of
modernization and empowerment of several small
countries,
providing
technical
and
financial
assistance.
One can especially see this in the case of Bhutan.
Bhutan, in contrast to its neighbors, was spared the
direct and tragic impacts of colonization and the two
World Wars, preserving its independence by adopting
a firm isolationist stance. While Bhutan gradually
started to shed its isolationist stance with the
m

development of a close and intimate relationship with
India, whose aid initiated the facilitation of Bhutan’s
socio-economic growth, Bhutan looked towards
diversifying its relations in order to enhance its
recognition as a sovereign and independent nation on
the international stage. This, in turn, led to Bhutan’s
momentous admittance into the United Nations as its
128th member state, marking the official end of its
self-imposed isolation and its formal entry into the
international community. Since then, the United
Nations and Bhutan have had an important
partnership and this partnership has only grown over
the decades. Indeed, the impact of the United Nations
is certainly tangible as seen by the transformation of
the lives of Bhutan’s most vulnerable and often
overlooked, evidenced by projects that helped
advance the legal rights of women and children, the
enhancement of essential social services for the
impoverished and disabled, and the promotion of
sustainable development projects that reduce poverty
and inequality, illustrating how collaborative efforts
between UN bodies and the government in a diverse
range of fields have contributed immensely to
Bhutan’s development and improving the lives of the
Bhutanese people.

UN Secretary General U Thant made a statement before the flags of the new Members of United Nations
Organization were raised at the UN headquarters
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Of course, in spite of these collaborative efforts,
there are several challenges that remain, impeding
Bhutan’s progress towards achieving full selfrealization. For instance, the COVID-19 pandemic
has not only tested the capacity and resilience
of nations all over the world but has also
potentially set back decades of progress on
key life outcomes. The trauma of the
pandemic has etched itself into the lived
experiences of many and smaller, poorer states
like Bhutan are certainly no exception. Although
Bhutan has managed to keep the worst of the
pandemic’s effects at bay under the leadership
of our King and Government, nevertheless, we
definitely have segments of our society that
have lost a lot during this arduous period and
who are undoubtedly going to bear the scars left
by this time for years to come. Moreover, we
still remain vulnerable to pre-existing challenges
such as disasters
induced
by
climate
change and food
m
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insecurity, further jeopardizing our most atrisk populations. The loss and setbacks that
we have faced thus endangers our mission to
mobilize our people and achieve “a just,
harmonious and sustainable Bhutan where no
one is left behind”. But despite these obstacles, I
believe that, by the sheer force of our
resourcefulness, unity, and will to survive, qualities
that our community prides itself on having, we
can adapt to them and heal, coming out stronger
than ever. As such, the kind of Bhutan that I
want to see in the next fifty years is one that can
productively utilize the lessons learned from the
challenges that it has faced to address present
and future impediments, improving upon itself
constantly. I want to see a Bhutan that, no
matter what the circumstance, can support and
uplift all of its people during times of need and
struggle so that no one is left behind and we can
truly call ourselves a just, harmonious,
and sustainable society.

The habitat of Rhododendron pogonophyllum

Rediscovery of rare
Rhododendron pogonophyllum
Cowan & Davidian after a gap
of 84 years in Bhutan
- Contributed by the National Biodiversity Centre, Thimphu.
Introduction
The Flora of Bhutan describes a total of 46 species out of which 45 are known to be occurring in
Bhutan. The book describes Rhododendron pogonophyllum Cowan & Davidian as a rare
endemic plant to Bhutan. The subsequent publication of the book “Plants Endemic to Bhutan
Himalaya '' by the National Biodiversity Centre, MoAF published in 2015 listed it as one of the
endemic plant species found in the country with an herbarium specimen deposited at the
National Herbarium as an evidence. “Wild Rhododendrons of Bhutan'', a book by Rebecca
Pradhan in 1999 has photos of the Rhododendrons found in Bhutan including R.
pogonophyllum with descriptions of its flower, leaf, flowering time, habitat, altitude, distribution,
and with a remark stating as an endemic and rare plant species not seen since 1937, but
without any photographic evidences. The book reports a total of 46 Rhododendron species in
m
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Bhutan. Though the species was thought to be a rare and endemic species for Bhutan, a
specimen record exists from Cona in the Tibetan Autonomous Region of China on Global
Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF).
History of the discovery of the Rhododendron pogonophyllum in Bhutan
George Sherriff met Frank Ludlow in Kashgar and they became very good friends although
Ludlow was senior to Sherriff by fifteen years. Their common love for the flowers and birds
created a unique bond that made them explore together. They were introduced to the second
King of Bhutan, His Majesty Jigme Wangchuck. They were very keen plant collectors and
ornithologists and collected and discovered many plants and birds which many were new to
science. They traveled extensively across the Eastern Himalayas and the support rendered by
the second King played a key role in making their botanical endeavors possible.
Though the duo made multiple successful expeditions collecting and discovering many
interesting birds and flowers, in 1937 Ludlow couldn’t join Sherriff and thus Sherriff started his
journey of exploring the peaks of central Bhutan. Sherriff planned to climb the Dungshingang or
the Black Mountain range in central Bhutan from the southern side of the mountain from Nabji in
Trongsa which he calls Nabzi. However, his attempt from the Duggar La in Nabji failed after he
was confronted by the lack of a proper footpath and knee-deep snow. Lack of water on the
Dungkar La was a major challenge and Sherriff celebrated his 39th birthday which falls on 3rd
May by drinking two cups of tea. This was the best possible luxury he could have on this remote
mountain without any drinking water.
Then he planned to climb the Dungshingang from the northern side. He took the arduous
journey from Nabji to Chendebji via Kudra, Phumzor, Jangbi, Wangling, Kela, and Tangsibji.
From Chendebji he came to Phobjikha via Lamsela. After spending a few days in Phobjikha he
ventured towards the Dungshingang but he wasn’t successful due to the snow which had not
yet melted. Then he descended and visited Athang which he called Adao. After staying a few
days in Athang, he started his journey to Dangchu which he calls Tangchu in his specimen
locations.

Ramno grazing area with the Kyitsugang in Background

Rhododendron pogonophyllum in its habitat at Kyitsugang

After a night halt at Trashidinkha in Dangchu, he climbed towards Kyitsugang which Sherriff
wrote as Chizukang. On his second day, he found many interesting plants including Primulas
and the Rhododendron pogonophyllum in particular. Earlier the specimen collected was thought
to be Rhododendron hypenanthum which is now considered as a subspecies of Rhododendron
anthopogon. Later Cowan & Davidian described it as a new species using the specimen
collected by Sherriff from this locality and the specimen currently resides at the Royal Botanic
Garden Edinburgh in UK with the catalog number E00010309. Later in July, Sheriff
also collected the same Rhododendron species from Rinchen Chu (Chore) in central Bhutan on
13th July 1937. Currently, Chore is known as Khero to the locals, and the present-day Nikachu
was known as Rinchenchu. Chore as Khero and Chizukang as Kyitsugang as known to the
locals lie on the same mountain range separating the Nikachu and the Dangchu watersheds.
Khero is located within an aerial radius of around 5 km from Kyitsugang.
Past efforts by Bhutanese and foreign botanists to locate this rare Rhododendron may have
been faced with the problem of tracing the exact location. Since the location is written as
Tangchu, it may have been mistaken for the Tangchu in Bumthang district. It was quite a hassle
for the team from the National Biodiversity Centre without information from the Sherriff’s field
notes. For instance, many of the Sherriff’s collections were done in the upper valley of the
Nikachu.
Rediscovery by the National Biodiversity Centre of Bhutan
Bhutan is known for its rich biodiversity for small size and in recognition of the importance of the
rich biodiversity to humankind and to her own goal of environmentally sustainable development
and committed leadership in environmental conservation, Bhutan became a party to and ratified
the UN Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) in 1995 by the 73rd session of the National
Assembly of Bhutan. Bhutan developed the first Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) in 1997 as a
guiding policy document for conservation and sustainable utilization of the biological resources
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of the country. During the development of the first BAP, it was recognized that the
responsibilities for biodiversity were divided among several units under the Ministry of
Agriculture and Forests, based partly on the history of biodiversity management and partly on
the distinction made between domestic and wild biodiversity. This often led to problems in
coordinating, goal setting, planning, and cooperation in comprehensive biodiversity
management. As a result, the National Biodiversity Program (NBP) was established in 1998 as
a recommendation of the BAP. The program was later upgraded to the National Biodiversity
Centre (NBC) in 2001. The National Herbarium was established during the establishment of the
NBP and the Royal Botanical Garden was established in 1999. While the National Herbarium
was established to serve as the repository and reference center for botanical collections and to
coordinate plant taxonomy-related studies, the Royal Botanical Garden was established as an
ex-situ plant conservation area.
By keeping these mandates in mind, a team consisting of the officials from the National
Herbarium and the Royal Botanical Garden under the National Biodiversity Centre made an
expedition to the Kyitsugang in June 2021 to hunt for the Rhododendron pogonophyllum. During
the expedition, the team ventured into arduous journeys during monsoon season. The walking
trail was barely noticeable since the cow herders of the Ramno grazing area stopped taking
their cattle to the grazing area in the previous years. The team took shelter in the wooden huts
of the cow herders from Dangchu and ascended through steep cliffs towards the Kyitsugang the
next day. Despite the incessant rainfall and cold mountain winds, the team finally found the tiny
and striking Rhododendron pogonophyllum flowering beautifully and precariously on the rocks
and rocky soils on open hillsides at Kyitsugang at an altitude of 4,452 meters above sea level.
Ecology and characteristics
Rhododendron pogonophyllum is similar to Rhododendron anthopogon which is widely used as
incense and as a medicinal herb for traditional medicine but differs from the latter in its typical
creeping habit. The leaves also differ in their shape with conspicuous white hairs on the upper
surface and margins. The underside of the leaves is thick brown scaly. The flowers are white to
pink in color. This species of Rhododendron is found growing on rocks and rocky soil on open
hillsides from 4270 to 4720m in altitude. The plant flowers in June and July months.

Nabji village in Trongsa

The team members taking shelter under a cliff from rain

Threats and conservation
Currently, this species of Rhododendron is classified as Data Deficient (DD) on the International
Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List. As this species grows in the remote
mountains which are far from the reach of anthropogenic pressures, there doesn’t seem to be
any direct threat from the developmental activities. However, the most prominent threat to the
survival of this species could be from the vegetation shifts brought in by climate change and
global warming over time. Since this species is found growing on the hillsides on the mountain
with no further area left for vegetation shifts to take place, further increase in temperature or
changes brought by climate change may lead to the extinction of this species. According to the
local people, one threat is due to the collection of this Rhododendron as incense sticks. Since
Kyitsugang in Dangchu is believed to be the abode of their local deity Ap Kyitsup, the place is
considered to be protected from anthropogenic activities as of now.
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IBF at a Glance

India-Bhutan Foundation
(IBF)

T

The IBF over the years have
financed a number of projects
in Bhutan and India, some of
which are:

he Royal Government of
Bhutan and the
Government of India on 29
August 2003 signed the
Memorandum
of
Understanding to establish the
India-Bhutan Foundation to
enrich and expand the close
friendship and cooperation
between the two countries.
The Foundation strives to
enhance people to people
contact by supporting activities
in mutually agreed areas in
particular, educational, cultural,
scientific and technical fields.

• Mountain Echoes - Literary
Festival. The festival enjoys
the royal patronage of Her
Majesty the Queen Mother
Ashi
Dorji
Wangmo
Wangchuck. It provides a
platform for authors to
engage in cultural dialogue
and celebrate tales of a
shared landscape in the
Himalayan region.
• Film Fraternity Field Visit An initiative of Bhutan Film
Association, Thimphu

The Foundation has been
endowed with a Trust Fund of
Rs. 160 million contributed by
the two governments and the
income generated by the Trust
Fund is used to finance projects
in the aforementioned areas in
both Bhutan and India.

• SAARC Festival of Literature
• Workshop on Techniques in
Physiological Sciences for
SAARC Nations
• Printing the Book "The
Bodhisattva
King"
by
Tshering Tashi of Bhutan
Publishing House

The IBF is administered by a 10member Board of Directors
with the Ambassador of
Bhutan to India and the
Ambassador of India to Bhutan
as Co-Chairpersons of the
Board. RGOB and GOI each
nominates four other members
of the Board, supported by two
officials from the respective
embassies, designated by the
concerned Ambassadors, as
Secretary of the Foundation.
The Board of Directors meets
twice annually to dispatch the
Foundation’s business such as
reviewing and approve various
project proposals and grants.

• India-Bhutan Cultural
Exchange & Art Camp by
Centre for Escalation of Peace
• India-Bhutan Friendship
Tennis Championship• Empowerment: Shades of
Togetherness-India
Bhutan
Artist Camp• Skill and Know How
Initiative
for
Lifelong
Leadership
Development
(SKILLD)
• Folklore Collection and Study
Program in Bhutan

• Cottage Enterprise & Textile
Recycling- A Climate Smart
Livelihood
for
Women
Empowerment in Bhutan by
SAFE
• V series of India-Bhutan
Friendship Tennis Championship
2019
• 1st & 2nd India- Bhutan Youth
Summit
• Promotion of Sports and
Indigenous Games in Bhutan
• Khadi-Thagzo: A textile
presentation at RTA Thimphu
IBF welcomes suitable project
proposals
from
private
individuals, Non-Governmental
Organizations,
academicians
and other organizations from
Bhutan and India. Information
on (a) application form for
financial assistance and (b)
terms of reference for projects
funded by IBF can be obtained
from:
The Secretary
India Bhutan Foundation
Royal Bhutanese Embassy
Chandragupta Marg
Chanakyapuri
New Delhi 110021
Phone: +91 11 26889230/ 9809/
9807
Fax: +91 11 26876710/
24674664/ 24102231
Or
The Secretary
India Bhutan Foundation
Embassy of India
Thimphu, Bhutan
Phone: +975 2 322162
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Fax: +975 2 323195
Website: www.eoithimphu.org

General Information

Countries that have
Diplomatic Relations with
Bhutan
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

Country Name

Year of
establishment
of Diplomatic
relations

Afghanistan
Andorra
Argentina
Armenia
Australia
Austria
Azerbaijan
Bahrain
Bangladesh
Belgium
Brazil
Canada
Colombia
Costa Rica
Cuba
Czech Republic
Denmark
Egypt
European Union
Fiji
Finland
India
Indonesia
Japan
Kazakhstan
Korea, South
Kuwait
Luxembourg

2010
2012
2012
2012
2002
1989
2013
1992
1973
2009
2009
2003
2012
2012
2011
2011
1985
2012
1985
2011
1986
1968
2011
1986
2012
1987
1983
2011

Country Name

29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55

Year of
establishment
of Diplomatic
relations

Maldives
Mauritius
Mongolia
Morocco
Myanmar
Nepal
Netherlands
Norway
Oman
Pakistan
Poland
Serbia
Singapore
Slovakia
Slovenia
Spain
Sri Lanka
Eswatini
Sweden
Switzerland
Tajikistan
Thailand
Turkey
United Arab Emirates
Vietnam
Germany
Israel

1984
2012
2012
2011
2012
1983
1985
1985
2013
1988
2012
2011
2002
2012
2012
2011
1987
2012
1985
1985
2013
1989
2012
2012
2012
2020
2020
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General Information

Honorary Consuls of Bhutan
and Friendship Associations
HONORARy CONSULS
ABROAD
Tokyo, Japan

Mr. Ichiro Sawai
Honorary Consul General
Shiba Koen Plaza 3F
9-6-3 Chome, Shiba, Minato-Ku
Tokyo 105-0014
Telephone : 03-6275-1566
Fax : 03-6435-8650
Email: info @ bhutan-hcg.org

Kinki, Japan
Kyushu-Okinawa, Japan
Dr. Ryoichi Nagata
Honorary Consul General
President and CEO SNBL,
4-21-1 Toso Kagoshima City,
Kagoshima 890-0081, Japan. Tel:
+81-99-294-2600,
Fax:+81-99-294-3619,
E-mail:ryoichi-nagata@snbl.co.jp.

The Republic of Korea

Mr. Han Young Kim,
Honorary Consul General
123-5 Nonhyun-Dong Kangnamku, Seoul, RoK Phone:
+82-2-3444-5961 Fax:
+82-2-3444-4384
E-mail: hykmes @ hanafos.com
Sri Lanka
Mr. Abbas Esufally,
Honorary Consul
Level 06, Hemas House
No 75, Braybrooke Place
Colombo-02, Sri Lanka
Tel: +94-11-2313131,
Fax:+94-11-2300003
E-mail: abbas @ hemas.com /
bhutan.consul @ hemas.com

The Netherlands

Mr. Cornelis Klein,
E-mail: cornelisklein @ gmail.com

Germany:
Länder Berlin, BadenWürttemberg, Bayern,
Brandenburg, Rheinland-Pfalz,
Saarland, Sachsen, SachsenAnhalt und Thüringen.
Dr. Wolfgang Pfeiffer,
Honorary Consul General
Tel: 0049 7142 53232
Fax: 0049 7142 54655
E-mail: Dr.W.Pfeiffer @ t-online.de

Madrid, Spain

Mr. Ian Patrick Triay Guerrero,
Honorary Consul General
Tel: 91-622-1859,
Fax:91-622-1860
E-mail: iantriay @ telefonica.net

Canada

Mr. Graham David Blyth
Honorary Consul
E-mail: samblyth @
blytheducation.com

Austria (Tirol and Vorarlberg)
Dr. Siepp Riedmann,
Honorary Consul of Bhutan
Tel: 05574/77799
Mobile: 0664/1000657
Email: riedmann.advocate@aon.at
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Austria (Vienna, Lower
Austria, Burgenland, Upper
Austria and Styria)

Dr. Gunther Holbl
Honorary Consul
Email: konsulat.bhutan@kuoni.at
Tel: +43 6641032648

Czech Republic

Mr. Jaroslav Hubacek
Honorary Consul of Bhutan in
Prague
Email: jhubacekv@volny.cz
Telephone: +420325585263
Mobile: +420602146844

The Philippines

Mr. Vicente S. Perez, Jr.
Honorary Consul
c/o Alternergy 111 Paseo de
Roxes Bldg. level 3 B
Makati, Metro Manila, Philippines
email:
vince.perez@nextpartners.com
The U.K.
Mr. Andrew Sutton
Honorary Consul
West Walls, Cotmandene,
Dorking Surrey RH4 2BL
Email:andrewsutton001@aol.com
Telephone: ++44 (0) 1306
884349 (home landline)
++44 (0) 7709 654659
(mobile)

HONORARy CONSULS
IN BHUTAN
France

Ms. Francoise Pommaret, PhD
(Tashi Om) Honorary Consul
Address: Appt 1, Villa Italia,
Chorten Lam 2A/2B
Thimphu
Mobile: +97517624034
Email: fpommaret@gmail.com

People’s Republic of
Bangladesh

General Information

The United Kingdom

Mr. Rinchen Dorji
Honorary Consul General
Tel No: +9775-17112220
Fax No: +975-05-252248
Email: rdorjirsa@gmail.com

Mr. Michael Rutland, O.B.E
Honorary Consul
Mobile No: 975-17618553
P.O. Box 1044, Thimphu
Email: rutland.michael@gmail.com

Kingdom of Belgium

SWITZERLAND

Mr. Wangchuk Dorji
Honorary Consul
Tel No: +975 77777777
Fax No: +975-05-25110
Email: wangchuk_dorji@yahoo.com

Kingdom of Denmark

Mr. Palden Jigme Dorji
Honorary Consul General
Address: Jazam Babesa,Thimphu
Tel: +975 -2-351733/351734
Fax: +975-2-351280
Mobile: +975 17110024
Office: +975 351733/34
Email: palden.dorji@jss.bt/
paldor@umgate.dk

REPUBLIC OF KOREA

Mr. Topgyal Dorji
Honorary Consul General
Tel: +975 77333333
Fax: +975 323666
Email: topgyaldorji@gmail.com

THE NETHERLANDS
Ms. Phuntshok Choden Tshering
Honorary Consul
FAX No: +975 17699888
Email: phuntshokct@gmail.com

Kingdom of Sweden
Mrs. Phub Zam
Honorary Consul
Tel No: 975 17112211/
+975-2-336611
Fax No: +975 2323894

Kingdom of Thailand
Mr. Ugyen Tshechup Dorji
Honorary Consul General
Tel No: +975 17119999
Email:ugentsechup@gmail.com
Singye Building, 4th Floor, Gonor
Lam, Chubachu, Thimphu

Lyonpo Kinzang Dorji
Honorary Consul
Mobile No: 00975 17121234
Email: lyonpokinzang@gmail.com

Federal Republic of Germany
Mr. Chambula Dorji
Honorary Consul
Bhutan Dorji Holidays
PO BOX 550, Thimphu
Mobile: +975 17124567
Office: +975 2 328663
Bhutan3000@gmail.com
www.bhutandorji.com

JAPAN

Japan-Bhutan Friendship
Association
Mr Seiji Kojima
President
2-11-18-402 Otowa,Bunkyoku,Tokyo 112-0013,Japan
Tel & Fax: +81-3-3945-3396
Email: info@japan-bhutan.org
http://www.japan-bhutan.org/
https://www.facebook.com/
JapanBhutanFriendshipAssociati
on/

South Korea

Republic of Finland
Mr. Passang Dorji
Honorary Consul
P.O Box 369
Second Floor, Building 4B Yangchen
Lam, Thimphu
Tel No. +975 2331161
Mob No. +975 17117567
Email: passang@gmail.com

Poland

Mr. Wangdi Jamyang
Honorary Consul
C/O White Tara Group
Mobile No: 17119009
Email:
wangdijamyang@gmail.com,
wtara@druknet.bt

Kingdom of Norway

FRIENDSHIP
ASSOCIATION OF BHUTAN

Mrs. Dago Beda
Honorary Consul
Thimphu
Email: dago@ethometho.com.bt
Mobile: +975 1711 0480

Korea-Bhutan Friendship
Association
William Rim Jae LEE, Chairman,
Director, Bhutan Cultural Center
of Korea
Address: 71-20 Cheongdamdong, #203, Gangnam-gu,
Seoul, Korea
Phone no: +82-2-518-5012
Fax +82-2-518-5013Web
www.facebook.com/koreabhutan

AUSTRIA
Austrian-Bhutan Society ABS
Dr. Claus Walter
Email:
philanthrop.cw@gmail.com
www.dachverband-pan.org/
asien/bhuta n//td> Austria
Friends of Bhutan Association
President: Mrs. Liselotte
Waldheium-Natural
Email: contact@austriabhutan.org
www.austria-bhutan.org
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General Information

France

Les Amis du Bhutan
www.amisdubhoutan.fr
Dr. Francoise Pommaret
Email: fpommaret@gmail.com
amisbhutan@gmail.com
Mrs. Jeanne Mascolo
Email: jeannemascolo@gmail.com

GERMANy
German-Bhutan Himalaya Society
Mr. Reinhard Wolf
Email: info@bhutan-gesellschaft.de
www.bhutan-gesellschaft.de

Email: ibfadelhi@gmail.com
Phone no:+9811155392 https://
www.facebook.com/IBFAssoc
iation/?
ref=page_internal www.ibfa.info
India

Poland

SWITZERLAND
SOCIETY SWITZERLANDBHUTAN

FINLAND

Pro Bhutan E.V
Dr. Werner Haring
Email: dr.werner.haring@web.de
www.proBhutan.com

Mr.ClaudioZingg
Email: claudio.zingg@bhutanswitzerland.org
info@bhutan-switzerland.org
Website: www.bhutanswitzerland.org
Facebook:https://
www.facebook.com/groups/
societyswissbhutan/

Bhutan Help Society
Prof.Dr. Alexander Klaussner
Email: ak@erlebniswald-mainau.de,
alex@natur-pur.org

Bhutan- Switzerland Society
(BSS)
Lyonpo Dr. Kinzang Dorji
(President)

GREECE
Mr. Romolo Gandolfo
Greece-Bhutan Friendship Association
romolonthego@gmail.com
Facebook – Greece-Bhutan friendship
association

ITALy
Prof. Maddalena Fortunati
Amici del Bhutan
madda2000@hotmail.com
www.bhutan-italy.com

THE NETHERLANDS
Ms. Louise Huijbens-Jellema
Friends of Bhutan
Email: louise.huijbens@outlook.com
www.friendsbhutan.nl

INDIA

SWEDEN
Mr Alf Persson
The Swedish Bhutan Society
agfpersson@telia.com
www.swedish-bhutan-society.org

THE UNITED KINGDOM
Mr. Andrew Sutton
The Bhutan Society of the
United Kingdom
Email:
andrewsutton001@aol.com
www.bhutansociety.org

HUNGARY
Mr. Zolten Valcsicsak Hungarian
Bhutan Friendship Society Email:
valcsicsak.zoltan@gmail.com
www.bhutan.info.hu

India-Bhutan Friendship Association
Mr. Lalit Aggarwal
Vice President
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Ms Elzbieta Jablonska
Bhutan-Poland Friendship Society
Email:
elzbietajablonska.pl@gmail.com

Mr. Iiro Kakko
Finland-Bhutan Society
Email: trienne22@gmail.com

DENMARK
Mr. Henrik A. Nielsen
Danish Bhutanese Friendship
Association
Email: bhutan.dk@gmail.com
www.bhutan.dk

CZECH REPUBLIC
Ms. Lilia Khousnoutdinova
Friends of Bhutan Society of the
Czech Republic
Website: www.friendsofbhutan.cz
Email: Lilia.aisha@gmail.com

Czech’n’Bhutan Cultural
Friendship Association
Mr. Martin Piro
Email: martin.piro@centrum.cz

NORWAY
Mr. Einar Kippenes
Norway-Bhutan Friendship
Association
Email: einar@kippenes.no
www.nbfa.no

Useful Websites

Ministry of Agriculture & Forests: www.moaf.gov.bt
Ministry of Education: www.education.gov.bt
Ministry of Economic Affairs: www.moea.gov.bt
Ministry of Finance: www.mof.gov.bt
Ministry of Foreign Affairs: www.mfa.gov.bt
Ministry of Health: www.health.gov.bt
Ministry of Home and Cultural Affairs: www.mohca.gov.bt
Ministry of Information & Communications: www.moic.gov.bt
Ministry of Labor and Human Resources: www.molhr.gov.bt
Ministry of Works and Human Settlement: www.mowhs.gov.bt
Cabinet Secretariat: www.cabinet.gov.bt
National Environment Commission: www.nec.gov.bt
Gross National Happiness Commission: www.gnhc.gov.bt
Tourism Council of Bhutan: www.tourism.gov.bt
Royal Audit Authority: www.raa.gov.bt
Royal Civil Service Commission: www.rcsc.gov.bt
Royal Court of Justice: www.judiciary.gov.bt
Royal Institute of Management: www.rim.edu.bt
Royal University of Bhutan: www.rub.edu.bt
Bhutan Chamber of Commerce: www.bcci.org.bt
Centre of Bhutan Studies: www.bhutanstudies.org.bt
Royal Institute for Governance and Strategic Studies: www.rigss.bt
Bhutan Post: www.bhutanpost.com.bt
Druk Air: www.drukair.com.bt
Bhutan Portal: www.bhutan.gov.bt
Bhutan Broadcasting Service (BBS): www.bbs.bt
Kuensel Newspaper: www.kuenselonline.com
The Bhutanese: www.thebhutanese.bt
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Bhutan at a glance

Bhutan at a glance

National Symbols

nATIonAL
AnIMAL

T

nATIonAL eMBLeM

T

nATIonAL DAY

he symbol of the sacred jewel at the top of the
royal crest signifies that the Buddhist Sovereign
is raised supreme above all heads, in the
compassionate form of the triple gem. The crossed
Vajras (diamond sceptres) in the center represents
the harmony between the noble and ancient customs
of spiritual and secular law, and modern power and
authority. The qualities essential for harmony flows
naturally and imperceptibly from the spiritual essence
of the Vajra. The male and female turquoise thunder
dragons embracing in unity symbolize the name of
the Kingdom: Druk Yul. Druk means thunder dragon,
Yul means land. The thunder of summer storms like
a dragon’s roar reverberates across mountains and
valley speaking of the country’s glory.

O

n 17 December 1907, Bhutan established its
hereditary monarchy by appointing Gongsar
Ugen Wangchuck as the First King.

nATIonAL
FLoWeR

he Takin (Burdorcas
taxicolor) is a rare mammal
with a thick neck and
short muscular legs. It lives in
groups and is found above 4000
meters on the north-western and
far north eastern parts of the
country. They feed on bamboo
and the adult Takin can weigh
over 200 kgs.

nATIonAL
BIRD

T

he national bird is the raven.
It adorns the royal crown.
The raven represents the
deity Gonpo Jarodongchen
(raven headed Mahakala), one
of the chief guardian deities of
Bhutan.

T

he ‘Blue Poppy,’ Bhutan’s
national flower, is now
synonymous with a
country that is known for its rare
and special hybrids.

nATIonAL sPoRT

The representatives of the clergy, Penlops (governors)
and people’s representatives decided to end the
internal strife in the country by unanimously signing
a genja (Oath of Allegiance) that handed over the
reins of the country to Gongsar Ugyen Wangchuck
and his hereditary heirs. This landmark decision set
the Kingdom on the path of unprecedented peace and
prosperity. Today, this occasion is commemorated as
Bhutan’s National Day.

A

rchery was declared the national sport in 1971
when Bhutan became a member of the United
Nations. Bhutan also maintains an Olympic archery
team. Archery tournaments and competitions are held
throughout the country. Archery is played during religious
and secular public holidays in Bhutan, local festivals
(tsechu), between public ministries and departments,
and between the dzongkhag and the regional teams.

nATIonAL FLAG

T

he upper yellow half of Bhutan’s flag signifies the
secular authority of the King. It is the colour of
fruitful action, both in religious and state maters.
The orange half of the flag denotes the religious practice
and spiritual power of Buddhism as manifested in the
Kargyupa and Nyingmapa sects, the historic springs of
the Bhutanese faith. The dragon honours the people’s
name for their country: Druk Yul – Land of the Thunder
Dragon. Its colour, the white of purity, expresses the
loyalty of the country’s many racial and linguistic
groups. The dragon’s snarling mouth expresses the
stern strength of the male and female deities protecting
Bhutan. The jewels it clasps in its claws are symbol of
the land’s wealth and perfection.
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nATIonAL TRee

T

he national tree is the cypress (Cupressustorolusa).
Cypresses are found in abundance and one may notice large
cypresses near temples and monasteries. This tree is found
in the temperate climate zone, between 1800 and 3500 meters. Its
capacity to survive on rugged harsh terrain is compared to bravery
and simplicity.
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DISCLAIMER:
All views and opinions expressed in the articles are attributed to the individual
author/contributor and do not reflect the views of the Royal Bhutanese Embassy, New
Delhi or the organization they work for.

Cover Photo Credits:
The Cover Photo for this year’s
Mr. Yeshi Lhendup is a prolific
Creator Award and hosts the
loved by many Bhutanese and
on YouTube.

Window on Bhutan Magazine was contributed by Mr. Yeshi Lhendup.
Digital Content Creator in Bhutan. He is a recipient of the YouTube
Friday Specials: From the Kingdom of Bhutan. Yeshi’s films are
international viewers, and has more than more than 27 million views

YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/c/YeshiLhendupFilms
Facebook: https://www.facebook.com/yeshilhendupfilms
Instagram: https://www.instagram.com/yeshilhendupfilms/?hl=en
The following also contributed photos for this edition of the Magazine:
1.
The Royal Office for Media;
2.
Tourism Council of Bhutan;
3.
Royal Textile Academy;
4.
National Biodiversity Center;
5.
Bhutan for Life;
6.
Department of Information Technology and Telecom, Ministry of Information and
Communications
7.
National Environment Commission.

